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Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) -Australia REIT Fund

2020
)
403,027,938 99.57
1,755,702 0.43
404,783,640 100.00
2020
8,196,890 100.29
-23,936 -0.29
8,172,954
(599 ) 100.00
2020 31 73.29
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2020

2019 2020
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2017 1,384,073,209 1,060.6
2018 735,228,573 1,066.1
2019 414,360,421 1,069.9
2019 599,499,010 1,072.7
581,250,184 1,121.9

506,804,399 1,126.5

473,486,771 1,068.6

452,422,008 1,111.4

452,906,769 1,126.1

424,514,086 1,087.4

414,360,421 1,069.9

10 416,531,913 1,105.4

11 413,090,066 1,123.4

12 408,013,611 1,117.2

2020 404,783,640 1,108.3
2017 9,112,469 667,853 91.61 6,714
2018 6,340,292 464,680 98.84 7,244
2019 8,677,086 635,944 111.75 8,190
2019 5,995,848 439,436 103.08 7,555
7,066,194 517,881 108.68 7,965

7,255,166 531,731 109.26 8,008

7,503,632 549,941 108.23 7,932

8,131,664 595,970 111.98 8,207

8,725,230 639,472 114 .64 8,402
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9,075,032 665,109 115.83 8,489
8,677,086 635,944 111.75 8,190
10 7,774,735 569,810 112.96 8,279
11 7,992,138 585,744 115.45 8,461
12 7,814,005 572,688 111.49 8,171
2020 8,172,954 598,996 116.28 8,522
33.60 3.02 221.34
31.14 2.87 210.34
29.18 2.89 211.81
()
9.42 -5.37
3.45 11.02
3.09 15.99

100x% +
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2016

(2016 26 2016 12 ) 8.11 ~2.26
2017

(2017 2017 12 ) 8.26 3.70
2018

(2018 2018 12 ) -8.40 3.59
2019

(2019 2019 12 ) 14.30 16.48
2020

(2020 2020 ) ~0-80 4.30

100x +
2020

2016
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2,303,195 998,146 1,305,049
(2,303,195) (998, 146) (1,305,049)
106,318 6,847 99,471
(106,318) (6,847) (99,471)
3,250 618,681 689,618

3,250 (618,681) (689, 618)
4,707 40,031 64,147
(4,707) (40,031) (64,147)

0 302,345 387,273

©) (302, 345) (387,273)
29,595 16,003 77,649
(29,595) (16,093) (77,649)
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2019 9 30

2019 9 30 2018 9 30

2.2 5 14,361,471 1,052,552 15,286,123 1,120,320

6
2.1 212 16 291 21
2.3 67,196 4,925 30,815 2,258
14,428,879 1,057,493 15,317,229 1,122,600
2.1 67,149 4,921 42 3
2.8 - - 30,814 2,258
2.10 3

67,149 4,921 30,856 2,261

3 14,361,730 1,052,571 15,286,373 1,120,338
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2019 9 30
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
FVTPL o
2.7
2.11 629,277 46,120 833,093 61,057
7 1,383,753 101,415 1,275,037 93,447
2.2 7 295,586 21,663 304,734 22,334
2.6 121 9 (43) (©)
2.6 14 1 18 1
2,308,751 169,208 2,412,839 176,837
8.2F 106,767 7,825 139,989 10,260
77,976 5,715 72,596 5,321
8.28B 62,711 4,596 82,131 6,019
8.2D 1,436 105 1,875 137
248,890 18,241 296,591 21,737
2,059,861 150,967 2,116,248 155,100
2.7 (380,513) (27,888) (536,142) (39,294)
- (107) ®)
(380,513) (27,888) (536,249) (39,302)
1,679,348 123,079 1,579,999 115,798

(©)

FVTPL
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2019 9 30
2017 9 30 24,744,498 1,813,524
3 487,205 35,707
2.8 3 (11,525,329)  (844,691)
1,579,999 115,798
2018 9 30 15,286,373 1,120,338
3 3,252,811 238,399
2.8 3 (5,856,802)  (429,245)
1,679,348 123,079
2019 9 30 14,361,730 1,052,571
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2019 9 30 2018 9 30
1,679,348 123,079 1,579,999 115,798
380,513 27,888 536,142 39,294

(174,314,853)

(12,775,536)

(227,145,337)

(16,647,482)

176,918,844 12,966,382 238,183,463 17,456,466
(1,383,753) (101,415)  (1,275,037) (93,447)

(295, 586) (21,663) (304,734) (22,334)

(36,381) (2,666) 405,111 29,691

2,948,132 216,069 11,979,607 877,985
3,252,811 238,399 487,205 35,707
(380,513) (27,888) (536,142) (39,294)
(5,887,616) (431,503)  (11,864,933) (869,581)
(3,015, 318) (220,993)  (11,913,870) (873,168)
(67,186) (4,924) 65,737 4,818

2.1 249 18 (65, 488) (4,800)
2.1 (66,937) (4,906) 249 18
380,387 27,879 536,502 39,320
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2019 9 30
1.
2013 12 2
1l
2016 8 5
2016 9 26
2014 1 22
KY1-9007

190 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman
KY1-9007, Cayman Islands

AUD $
JPY \
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2019 9 30
1.
1
1
2020 1 29
2.
IFRS IFRS
4
IFRS 10  IFRS 12 IAS 27 2012
2019 9 30
a
2018 10 1 IFRS 9 IFRS 9
IAS 39
(i) IFRS 9
IFRS 9
IAS 39
IFRS 9 IAS 1
_ 1 IAS 39

IFRS 9
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2019 9 30
2.
IFRS 9 3
FVTPL
FVOCI IFRS 9
IFRS 9 IAS 39
IFRS 9
IAS 39 IFRS 9
2018 10 1
IAS 39 IFRS 9
IAS 39 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9
FVTPL FVTPL $ 15,286,123 $ 15,286,123
291 291
30,815 30,815
$ 15,317,229 $ 15,317,229
IAS 39 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9
$ 42 °$ 42
30,814 30,814
$ 30,856 $ 30,856
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2019 9 30
2.
2018 10 1 IFRS 9 IAS 39
IFRS 9
IAS 39 2018 IFRS 9
9 30 2018 10 1
$ 291 $ -$ -$ 291
30,815 - - 30,815
$ 31,106 $ -$ -$ 31,106
— 2018 10 1
FVTPL
FVTPL
SPP1

SPPI

FVTPL
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2019 9 30
2.
— 2018 10 1
2018 10 1 IFRS 9
IFRS 9 IAS 39 ECL

FVOCI
IFRS 9 IAS 39
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2019 9 30
2.
FVTPL
12 /
ECL
IFRS 9
- IFRS 9
2018 10 1
2018 IFRS 9 IAS 39
FVTPL
2019 9 30
2018 10 1
2.1
3
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
2019 2018
$ 212 $ 291
212 291
(67,149) (42)

$ (66,937) $ 249
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2019 9 30
2.
2.2
A
e FVTPL
2009 9 30 - 2019 9 30 -
$ 14,361,471 $ $ 14,365,770
2018 9 30 - 2018 9 30 -
$ 15,286,123 $ $ 15,586,008
°
.
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2.2

2016 9 26
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2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2019 9 30
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2019 9 30
2.
2.7
i
ii i
i i
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
2019 2018
$ 198,430 $ 208,7293
182,083 327,413
$ 380,513 $ 536,142
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2.8

2018 9 30

2.9

IAS 32
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2019 9 30

2.10

2.11 FVTPL
FVTPL FVTPL

FVTPL

FVTPL

FVTPL
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
$308,387 $536,502
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2.12

2019 9 30

IAS 12

2018 9 30

2063 12 2
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2019 9 30
2.

2.12

2019 9 30 2018 9 30
3.

1 100
1 1,000
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2019 9 30
3.
2019 9 30 1
1
$ 8,677,086 77,649 $ 111.748
5,684,644 387,273 14.679
$ 14,361,730 464,922
2018 9 30 1
1
$ 6,340,292 64,147 $ 98.840
8,946,081 689,618 12.973
$ 15,286,373 753,765
2019 9 30 2018 9 30 1

100%
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2019 9 30
3.
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
2018 9 30
2019 9 30
$ 6,438,570 $ 3,252,811 $ (1,719,191) $ 7,972,190
9,815,371 - (4,137,611) 5,677,760
$ 16,253,941 $ 3,252,811 $ (5,856,802) $ 13,649,950
2017 9 30
2018 9 30
$ 9,820,783 $ 447,968 $ (3,830,181) $ 6,438,570
17,471,282 39,237 (7,695,148) 9,815,371
$ 27,292,065 $ 487,205 $  (11,525,329) $ 16,253,941
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
2018 9 30
2019 9 30
64,147 29,595 (16,093) 77,649
689,618 - (302,345) 387,273
753,765 29,595 (318,438) 464,922
2017 9 30
2018 9 30
99,471 4,707 (40,031) 64,147
1,301,849 3,250 (615, 481) 689,618
1,401,320 7,957 (655,512) 753,765
1

71/210



2019 9 30

EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

72/210



2019 9 30

EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

5.1
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2019 9 30
5.
IMF
2019 9 30
2019 9 30
JPYS - $ 5,659,494 $ (48) $ 5,659,446 39.4
USD 212 - - 212 0.0
212 5,659,494 (48) 5,659,658 39.4
AUD - 8,701,977 95 8,702,072 60.6
$ 212 $ 14,361,471 $ 47$ 14,361,730 100.0
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2019 9 30
5.
2018 9 30
2018 9 30
JPY$ - $ 8,922,700 $ (42) $ 8,922,658 58.4
USD 198 - - 198 0.0
198 8,922,700 (42) 8,922,856 58.4
AUD 93 6,363,423 1 6,363,517 41.6
$ 201$ 15,286,123 § (4D) $ 15,286,373 100.0
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2019 9 30
5.
2019 9 30 2018 9 30

2019
JPY +/- 11.33% +/- 641,215
usb +/- 6.51% +/- 14

2018
JPY +/- 6.87% +/- 612,987
usb +/- 7.84% +/- 16

B
3
1 LIBOR
AS51Prop LIBOR

76/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 9 30
5.
2019 9 30 2018 9 30 1%
143,615 152,861
1 143,615 152,861
D
2019 9 30 2018 9 30

14,621,278
9,861,321 24,229,423 17,531,199
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5.
2019 30 2018 9 30
A
2019 30 2018 9 30
Al
2019 30 2018 9 30
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2019 9 30
5.
E
15%
2019 9 30 1 13
$ 67,149 $ - $ 67,149
$ 67,1499 $ - $ 67,149
2018 9 30 1 13
$ 42 $ - $ 42
30,814 - 30,814
$ 30,856 $ - $ 30,856
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5.2
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5.2
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5.3

IFRS

13

2021 9 16
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2019 9 30
5.
°
° 1
°
3
2019 9 30
2019 9 30
2 3
- $ 14,361,471 $ - $ 14,361,471
- $ 14,361,471 $ - 3 14,361,471
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2019 9 30
5.
2018 9 30
2018 9 30
1 2 3
$ - $ 15,286,123 $ - 3 15,286,123
$ - $ 15,286,123 $ - $ 15,286,123
2019 9 30 2018 9 30 1 2 3
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2019 9

2019 9 30
5.
3
30 2018 9 30 3
22
2.2 D
i 2019 9 30 2018 9 30
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2019 9 30

5

-2019 9 30 60.6

2021 9 10 $ 8,701,977 $ (3,369)
-2019 9 30 39.4

2021 9 10 $ 5,659,494  $ (9,309)
-2018 9 30 41.6

2021 9 10 $ 6,363,423 $ (124,828)
- 2018 9 30 58.4

2021 9 10 $ 8,922,700  $ (175,057)
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2019 9 30
7.
2019 3 31 2018 3 31
6 6
$ 1,383,753 $ 1,275,037
$ 1,383,753 $ 1,275,037
$ 295,586 $ 304,734
$ 295,586 $ 304,734
1
1 X
1 1
1
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2019 9 30
8.
8.1
A
0.03 1 3,333
12
B
C
0.01 1 10

8.2

89/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 9 30
8.
A
10,000
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
B

2018 9 30
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3,333

0.41%
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2019 9 30
8.
Actual/365
C
5,000
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
D
0.01%
2019 9 30
2018 9 30
E
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
6 7 2019 9
30 2018 9 30

$1,383,753 $1,275,037
$295,586 $304,734
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2019 9 30
8.
F
0.75
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
G
9.
10%
2019 9 30 2018 9 30
10.
2020 1 29
2019 4 1 2020 1 29 $282,602 $1,463,655

$88,368
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Australia REIT Fund

Statement of Financial Position
September 30, 2019

(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

September 30, 2019 September 30, 2018

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 2.2, 5, 6) $ 14,361,471  $ 15,286,123
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2.1) 212 291
Receivables for:

Investments sold (Note 2.3) 67,196 30,815
Total assets 14,428,879 15,317,229

Liabilities

Bank overdraft (Note 2.1) 67,149 42
Payables for:

Repurchases of units (Note 2.8, 2.10, 3) - 30,814
Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to the holder of units) 67,149 30,856
Net assets attributable to the holder of units (Note 3) $ 14,361,730 $ 15,286,373

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Australia REIT Fund

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

September 30, 2019 September 30, 2018

Income

Net income/(loss) from financial instruments at FVTPL®
Generated Income (Note 2.7, 2.11) $ 629,277  $ 833,093
Net realized gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss (Note 7) 1,383,753 1,275,037

Net change in unrealized appreciation on financial assets and

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Note 2.2, 7) 295,586 304,734
Net realized gain/(loss) on foreign currency transactions (Note 2.6) 121 (43)
Net change in unrealized appreciation on foreign currency translations

14 18

(Note 2.6)

Total income 2,308,751 2,412,839
Expenses

Distribution fees (Note 8.2F) 106,767 139,989

Formation expense 77,976 72,596

Operational Cost fees (Note 8.2B) 62,711 82,131

Agent Member Company fees (Note 8.2D) 1,436 1,875

Total expenses 248,890 296,591
Operating profit before finance costs 2,059,861 2,116,248
Finance costs

Distributions to the holder of units (Note 2.7) (380,513) (536,142)

Interest expense - (107)

Total finance costs (380,513) (536,249)
Increase in net assets attributable to the holder of units from $ 1,679,348 $ 1,579,999

operations

@ This relates to net income from financial instruments measured at fair value through profitor loss (* FVTPL" )
including realized and unrealized gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and
loss and Generated Income.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Australia REIT Fund

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to the Holder of Units
For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

At September 30, 2017 $ 24,744,498
Issue of units (Note 3) 487,205
Repurchases of units (Note 2.8, 3) (11,525,329)
Increase in net assets attributable to the holder of units from

_ 1,579,999
operations
At September 30, 2018 $ 15,286,373
Issue of units (Note 3) 3,252,811
Repurchases of units (Note 2.8, 3) (5,856,802)
Increa§e in net assets attributable to the holder of units from 1,679,348
operations
At September 30, 2019 $ 14,361,730

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Australia REIT Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Increase in net assets attributable to the holder of units from

September 30, 2019

September 30, 2018

- 1,679,348  $ 1,579,999
operations
Adjustments to reconcile increase in net assets attributable to the
holder of units from operations to cash provided by operating
activities:
Distributions paid to the holder of units 380,513 536,142
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (174,314,853) (227,145,337)
Procgeds from disposition of financial assets at fair value through 176,918,844 238,183,463
profitor loss
Net realized gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (1,383,753) (1,275,037)
Net change in unrealized appreciation on financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (295,586) (304,734)
Increase/(decrease) in receivables for investment sold (36,381) 405,111
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,948,132 11,979,607
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from units issued 3,252,811 487,205
Distributions paid to the holder of units (380,513) (536,142)
Repurchases of units, net of change in payables for units repurchased (5,887,616) (11,864,933)
Net cash used in financing activities (3,015,318) (11,913,870)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (67,186) 65,737
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (Note 2.1) 249 (65,488)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 2.1) (66,937) $ 249
Supplementary information on cash flows from operating activities 380,387 $ 536502

Interest received

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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AustraliaREIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

1. ORGANIZATION

Australia REIT Fund (the* Series Trust” ) isa Series Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman)
111 (the" Trust” ), anopen-ended umbrella unit trust constituted by a Master Trust Deed dated December
2, 2013 under Cayman Islands law. The Series Trust was established pursuant to a Supplemental Trust Deed
dated August 5, 2016 and executed by El'ian Trustee (Cayman) Limited (the" Trustee” ), a trust company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Series Trust commenced operations on September
26, 2016.

The Trust is an exempted unit trust under the Trusts Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands and registered
under the Mutual Funds Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands on January 22, 2014.

The principal office for the Trustee (and therefore the Series Trust) is 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town,
Grand Cayman KY1-9007, Cayman Islands.

The manager of the Series Trust is Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (the “ Manager” ).

The Administrator, Custodian and Transfer Agent of the Series Trust is Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (the
“ Administrator” ," Custodian” and“ Transfer Agent” ).

Credit Suisse International acts as the Fee Agent (the" Fee Agent” ), Calculation Agent (the
“ Calculation Agent” ) and the Collateralized Swaps Counterparty (the* Collateralized Swaps
Counterparty” ).

Credit Suisse Securities (Japan) Limited acts as the Agent Member Company (the* Agent Member
Company” ).

The Manager Support Service Provider of the Series Trust is Daiwa SB Investments, Ltd. (the “ Manager
Support Service Provider” ).

The Manager has authorized Daiwa Securities Co. Ltd. to act as adistributor (the “ Distributor” ) of the
units in Japan.

Two classes of units in the Series Trust are currently available for issue: AUD Class Units and JPY Class
Units. The Series Trust and the AUD Class Units are denominated in Australian Dollars. All references to
“ AUD" and“ $" are toAustralianDollars. The JPY Class Units are denominated in Japanese Yen (* Yen” ,
©JPY” LN ).
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AustraliaREIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to provide investors with medium-to-long term
appreciation and stable income by providing exposure to a notional trading strategy (the* Strategy” )
which invests in aprice return Australian REIT index (the "Index™).

In order to provide exposure to the Strategy, the Trustee, in its capacity as trustee of the Series Trust,
entered into swap transactions (the "Collateralized Swaps') with the Collateralized Swaps
Counterparty. The Col lateralized Swaps are total return swaps of within approximately one year tenor
pursuant to which the Col lateralized Swaps Counterparty:

(i) solicited prices for entering into an unfunded swap linked to the Index by way of an auction process
from at least three market participants and;

(i1) provided notional exposure to the Index and dividends or distributions notionally paid by
constituents of the Index.

As a result, the Trustee for the account of the Series Trust notionally receives from the Col lateralized
Swaps Counterparty the return from the performance of the Index and the dividends or distributions
notional ly paid by constituents of the Index and notional ly pays the prices determined by way of the
auction process. The Series Trust also receives interest accrued on the dividend or distribution amounts
received from the Index, until paid out on the corresponding Distribution Date. Together, these two
elements are referred to as the" Generated Income” . Exposure to the Strategy in principle represents
100% of the net asset value ("Net Asset Value" being the value of its total assets minus its liabilities
including accrued fees and expenses) at the time of entry into the Col lateralized Swaps.

The Col lateralized Swaps Counterparty, has also agreed under the Collateralized Swaps to pay the
operational costs (the" Cost Coupon” ) to the Trustee, in its capacity as trustee of the Series Trust,
which the Trustee intends to apply towards the payment of the Fee Agent®s Operational Costs Fee (defined
on page 26). The unitholder will not therefore be entitled to any distributions of the Cost Coupon.

Final Repurchase Day

The Series Trust will continue until the earlier of September 16, 2021, or any subsequent date as

mutual ly agreed by the Trustee and the Manager and the earliest practicable repurchase day following the
occurrence of a compulsory repurchase event in respect (the* Final Repurchase Day” ), unless terminated
earlier in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.
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AustraliaREIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

The units are compulsorily repurchased upon the first to occur of any of the following:

(i) the Net Asset Value attributable to such class of units on any valuation day is in respect of AUD
Class Units, $1,000,000 or less, or in respect of JPY Class Units, \100,000,000 or less and, on that
valuation day or thereafter the Manager determines that all of the units of such class of units
should be compulsorily repurchased by giving notice to the unitholder; or

(i1) the Trustee and the Manager agreeing that all of the units of such class of units should be
compulsorily repurchased (this may include, but is not limited to, circumstances where the Trustee
and the Manager agree to compulsorily repurchase all of the units upon the termination date or an
early termination of the Collateralized Swaps for whatever reason prior to the termination date,
(each a "Compulsory Repurchase Event'™).

Upon the occurrence of a Compulsory Repurchase Event for a class of units, each unit of such class of
units is repurchased on the Final Repurchase Day at the final repurchase price per unit. The final
repurchase price per unit of a class of units is calculated by the Administrator in its sole discretion in
accordance with the Offering Memorandum and the Appendix 22 as the Net Asset Value per unit on the Final
Repurchase Day (or if such day is not also a valuation day the immediately preceding valuation day).
Repurchase day is each dealing day for the relevant class of units which is also a day on which no Series
Trust disruption event occurs and/or such other day or days as the Manager may from time to time determine
in respect of the Series Trust or a class of units.

Unitholder is able to receive an amount in respect of each unit of a class of units repurchased on any
repurchase day prior to the Final Repurchase Day equal to the Net Asset Value per unit of such class of
units as at the relevant repurchase day (or if that repurchase day is not also a valuation day the
immediately preceding valuation day) (the "Repurchase Price™). There is no repurchase fee applied to the
Repurchase Price in respect of each unit being repurchased.

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Trustee on January 29, 2020.
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AustraliaREIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise
stated. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates and requires the Trustee and the Manager to exercise
their judgment in the process of applying the Series Trust®s accounting policies. Areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The Series Trust has adopted Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and 1AS 27) (2012) (the
Amendments) . Management concluded that the Series Trust meets the definition of an investment entity.

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued effective for the financial year ending September
30, 2019:

(a) Change in significant accounting policies

The Series Trust has initially applied IFRS 9 from October 1, 2018. As permitted by the transition
provisions of IFRS 9, comparative information throughout these financial statements has not generally
been restated to reflect the requirements of the standard. Therefore, financial instruments in the
comparative period are still accounted for in accordance with I1AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement.

(1) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities
and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces 1AS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Series Trust is required to adopt consequential amendments
to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, which require:

- Impairment of financial assets to be presented in a separate line item in the statement of

comprehensive income. Under 1AS 39, impairment was recognized when losses were incurred. The Series
Trust did not previously report any incurred losses; and,
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AustraliaREIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

- Separate presentation in the Statement of Comprehensive Income of interest income calculated
using the effective interest method.

The adoption of IFRS 9 had no material impact on the net assets attributable to the holder of units of
the Series Trust.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortized
cost, fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) and fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is general ly based on the business model in
which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

IFRS 9 eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available
for sale.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Series Trust"s accounting policies related
to financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities under 1AS 39 are not materially different to the
carrying amounts under IFRS 9.

The following table and the accompanying notes below explain the original measurement categories under

IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for the Trust”s financial assets and financial
liabilities as at October 1, 2018:
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Australia REIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

Orlglr_la! - New classification Original carrying New carrying
classification under IFRS 9 amount under 1AS 39 amount
under IAS 39 under IFRS 9
Assets
Collateralized Swaps Designated as FVTPL Mandatorily at FVTPL $ 15,286,123 $ 15,286,123
Cash and cash equivalents LO&”? and Amortized cost 291 291
receivables
Receivables for:
Investments sold LO&”? and Amortized cost 30,815 30,815
receivables
Total Assets $ 15,317,229 $ 15,317,229
Or|g|r_1a! ) New classification Orlglr_1al New carrying
classification underunder IFRS 9 carrying amount amount
1AS 39 under 1AS 39 under IFRS 9
Liabilities
Bank overdraft Amortized cost Amortized cost $ 42 3% 42
Payables for:
Repurchases of units Amortized cost Amortized cost 30,814 30,814
Total Liabilities $ 30,856 3 30,856

The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets under IAS 39 to the carrying
amounts under IFRS 9 on transition to IFRS 9 on October 1, 2018:

1AS 39 carrying IFRS 9 carrying

amount at

September 30, 2018 S amount at

’ Reclassification Remeasurement October 1, 2018

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 291 % - $ - 3 291
Receivables for:
Investments sold 30,815 - - 30,815
Total amortized cost $ 31,106 $ - 3 - 3 31,106

Classification of financial assets - Policy applicable from October 1, 2018
On initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amortized cost or

FVTPL. A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the fol lowing conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL:
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i) Itisheldwithinabusiness model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and,

ii) Itscontractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely represent
payments of principal and interest (SPPI).

A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if any of the following apply:

i) Itscontractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments
of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding;

ii) Itisnotheldwithinabusiness model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash
flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell;

iii) At initial recognition, itis irrevocably designated as measured at FVPL when doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on
them on different bases.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Series Trust considers the contractual
terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term
that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this
condition. Inmaking this assessment, the Series Trust considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- leverage features;

- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Series Trust"s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features); and

- features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest
rates).

104/210



EDINETOO OO
00000000000000000000000000(EL5389)
OoO0oo0oO00oO000oooooooo

Australia REIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements
For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

The Series Trust has determined that it has two business models:

- Held-to-collect business model : this includes cash and cash equivalents and receivables for
investments sold. These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

- Other business model : These financial assets are managed and their performance is evaluated, on a
fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place.

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model inwhich a financial asset is held, the
Series Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the business is managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This includes
whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of

any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the
assets;

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Series Trust"s management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and how those risks are managed;

- how the investment manager is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of
the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for
such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are

not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series Trust"s continuing recognition of the
assets.

Classification of financial liabilities - Policy applicable from October 1, 2018

Financial liabilities carried at amortized cost include payables for bank overdraft and repurchases of
units.
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Impairment of financial assets

The effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at October 1, 2018 relates
solely on the new impairment requirements.

IFRS 9 replaces the" incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with an“ expected credit loss” (ECL) model. The new
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost and debt investment at FVOCI,
but not to investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognized earlier than

under 1AS 39.

Based on the Series Trust"s assessment, changes to the impairment model do not have a material impact on
the Series Trust”s financial assets because:

- The majority of the financial assets are measured at FVTPL and the impairment requirements do not apply
to such instruments.

- The financial assets at amortized cost are short-term (i.e. no longer than 12 months), of high credit
quality and/or highly collateralized. Accordingly, the ECLs on such assets are expected to be small.

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively,
except as described below.

- Comparative periods have not generally been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial
assets resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognized in net assets attributable to the holder of
units as at October 1, 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2018 does not reflect the
requirements of IFRS 9, but rather those of IAS 39.

- The fol lowing assessment has been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the
date of initial application.

The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.

The revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets as measured at FVTPL.
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New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the financial year ending
September 30, 2019:

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after
October 1, 2018 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Trust has not early applied these new
or amended standards in preparing these financial statements as they do not have a material effect on the
Trust"s financial statements.

2.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Series Trust considers all cash, foreign cash and short-term deposits with original maturity of
three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. Bank overdraft is shown in liabilities in the
Statement of Financial Position.

At September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, the Series Trust held the following balances as cash and
cash equivalents:

2019 2018
Time deposit $ 212 $ 291
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of 212 291
Financial Position
Bank overdraft (67,149) (42)
I(:37§\r,1vsand cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash $ (66,937) $ 249

2.2 Financial Assets and Liabilities

(A) Classification
The Series Trust classifies financial assets and liabilities into the following categories:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Mandatorily at FVTPL: Investment in Collateralized Swaps.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of the following:

September 30, 2019 - September 30, 2019 -
Fair Value Cost
Investment in Col lateralized Swaps 3 14,361,471 3 14,365,770
September 30, 2018 - September 30, 2018 -
Fair Value Cost
Investment in Col lateralized Swaps 3 15,286,123 3 15,586,008

Financial assets at amortized cost:
Cash and cash equivalents and receivables for investments sold.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:
Other liabilities: bank overdraft and payables for repurchases of units.

(B) Recognition/Derecognition

The Series Trust recognizes financial assets and liabilities on the date it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognized on
the trade date - the date on which the Series Trust commits to purchase or sell the investment. Financial
assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or the
Series Trust has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities
are derecognized when its contractual obligations are discharged, canceled or expired.

(C) Measurement

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profitor loss are initially recognized at fair
value with transaction costs recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Subsequent to initial
recognition, all financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the' financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income in the period inwhich they arise. Realized gains or losses on sale of investments
are calculated using first-in-first-out method.

Financial assets and liabilities other than those at fair value through profit or loss are carried at

amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment losses, ifany. Thisis
considered to approximate fair value due to the short-termor immediate nature of these instruments.
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(D) Fair Value Estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability inan
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk. Investments or other assets for which market quotations are not
readily available are valued at their fair value as determined in good faith in accordance with
procedures adopted by the Trustee with advice from the Manager. The resulting change in unrealized gains
or losses are reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(E) Investment in Col lateralized Swaps

The Trustee, in its capacity as trustee of the Series Trust, enters into Collateralized Swaps
transactions with the Col lateralized Swaps Counterparty, which are linked to the performance of the
Strategy for the account of the Series Trust. The trade date of the Col lateralized Swaps was September
26, 2016 (the "Trade Date') and the Col lateralized Swaps are Australian Dollar denominated within
approximately one year structure (which may be extended at the discretion of the Col lateralized Swaps
Counterparty).

2.3 Receivables for Investments Sold and Payables for Investments Purchased

Receivables for investments sold and payables for investments purchased represent trading transactions
that have been contracted for but not yet settled on the Statement of Financial Position date,
respectively. These amounts are recognized initially and subsequently measured at fair value, less
provision for impairment for amounts of receivables for investments sold. A provision for impairment is
established when there is objective evidence that the Series Trust will not be able to collect all
amounts of receivables for investments sold. Significant financial difficulties of the broker,
probability that the broker will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization, and default in payments
are considered indicators that the amount of receivables for investments sold is impaired.

2.4 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial
Position only when there is a legal ly enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. As of
September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, none of the financial assets and liabilities met the criteria
for financial instrument offsetting, and were therefore not offset in the Statement of Financial
Position.

2.5 Expenses
Expenses are recognized on an accrual basis in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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2.6 Foreign Currency Translation

(A) Functional and Presentation Currency

The performance of the Series Trust is measured and reported to the investors in Australian Dollars. The
Trustee considers the Australian Dol lar as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic
effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions of the Series Trust. The financial
statements are presented in Australian Dollars, which is the Series Trust"s functional and presentation
currency.

(B) Transactions and Balances

Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated in Australian Dollar
amounts at the date of valuation. Purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities, issue and
repurchase of units and income and expense items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
Australian Dol lar amounts on the respective dates of such transactions.

Reported net realized or unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from changes in foreign
exchange rates on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are included in
net realized gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and
net change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation on financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Realized and unrealized appreciation or depreciation from foreign currency transactions and
translation are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2.7 Distributions

The Strategy may generate a certain amount of income each quarter. The current policy of the Series Trust
is to pay to unitholder a quarterly distribution in respect of each distribution date of an amount
similar to the generated income attributable to the corresponding distribution period.

The quarterly distribution is expected to be computed from the fol lowing separate elements:

(i) anamount equal to the return from the performance of the Index and the dividends or distributions
paid by the Strategy (net of all applicable taxes); and
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(i1) interest accrued on the dividend or distribution amounts received from (i) above, until paid out
on the corresponding distribution date (paragraphs (i) and (ii) hereafter referred to as the
"Generated Income™).

The amount of distribution paid in respect of each distribution date is determined by the Manager in its
sole discretion taking into account Generated Income, realized and unrealized capital gains from the
Strategy, and miscel laneous costs, among other factors, per unit each quarter. The Manager may, in
circumstances where it deems appropriate, elect that a quarterly distribution is not payable in respect
of units for a relevant quarter. Circumstances where the Manager may make such an election, include but
are not limited to where it determines in its sole discretion that application of the Series Trust"s
investment objectives and policies have generated a negative performance over the previous quarter or
have underperformed to the extent that the Manager deems it appropriate to make such an election.

Distributions declared and paid during the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 were as

follows:
2019 2018
Total Amount Total Amount
AUD Class Units 3 198,430 $ 208,729
JPY Class Units 182,083 327,413
$ 380,513 $ 536,142

2.8 Repurchases of Units

The Series Trust has two classes of units which are repurchased at the holder®s option. The Series Trust
classifies its puttable instruments as liabilities in accordance with 1AS 32 (Amendment) © Financial
instruments: Presentation”. The amendment requires puttable financial instruments that meet the
definition of a financial liability to be classified as equity where certain strict criteriaare met.
Those criteria include:

The puttable instruments must entitle the holder to a pro-rata share of net assets;

The puttable instruments must be the most subordinated class and class features must be identical;

There must be no contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset other than the
obligation on the issuer to repurchase; and
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The total expected cash flows from the puttable instrument over its life must be based
substantially on the profit or loss of the issuer.

The Series Trust"s participating units do not meet al l of these conditions and are accordingly
classified as financial liabilities at September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018.

Units can be put back to the Series Trust at any time for cash equal to a proportionate share of the Series
Trust®s Net Asset Value.

Units are carried at the repurchased amount that is payable at the Statement of Financial Position date
i f the holder exercises the right to put the units back into the Series Trust.

Units are issued and repurchased at prices based on the Series Trust®s Net Asset Value per unit at the
time of issue or repurchase. The Series Trust"s Net Asset Value per unit is calculated by dividing the net
assets attributable to the holder of each class of units with the total number of outstanding units for
each respective class. Refer to Note 3 for further discussion.

2.9 Indemnities

The Trustee and the Manager, on behalf of the Series Trust, enter into certain contracts that contain a
variety of indemnifications. The Series Trust™s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown.
However, the Series Trust has not had prior claims of losses pursuant to these contracts and expects the
risk of loss to be remote.

2.10 Receivables for Subscriptions of Units and Payables for Repurchases of Units

Receivable for subscriptions of units is carried at the issuance amount that is receivable at the
Statement of Financial Position date. Payable for repurchase of units is carried at the repurchase
amount that is payable at the Statement of Financial Position date.

2.11 Net income from financial instruments at FVTPL

Net income from financial instruments at FVTPL includes realized and unrealized gains/losses and
Generated Income. Net realized gain or loss from financial instruments at FVTPL is calculated using the
first in, first out method. Net realized (loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL
represents the difference between the cost of the financial instruments and its settlement price of the
sale trade.

112/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AustraliaREIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

Net change in unrealized (depreciation)/appreciation on financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL
represents the difference between the carrying amount of a financial instrument at the beginning of the
period, or the transaction price if itwas purchased in the current reporting period and its carrying
amount at the end of the reporting period.

Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method and recorded on an accrual basis.
Interest income and expense, where relevant presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprise
dividend on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at FVTPL. Interest income is included as
part of Generated Income. During the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, there was
interest income of $308,387 and $536,502, respectively.

2.12 Taxation

The Trust has received an undertaking from the Cayman Islands Government exempting it fromall local
income, profits and capital gains taxes until December 2, 2063. No such taxes are levied in the Cayman
Islands at the present time.

The Series Trust could incur withholding taxes imposed by certain countries on investment income and
capital gains. Such income or gain would be recorded gross of withholding taxes in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Withholding taxes would be shown as a separate item in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. No withholding tax expense was paid for the years ended September 30, 2019 and
September 30, 2018, respectively.

The Series Trust may choose to invest in securities domiciled in countries other than the Cayman Islands.
Many of these foreign countries have tax laws which indicate that capital gains taxes may be applicable
to non-residents including the Series Trust. These capital gains taxes are required to be determined on a
self-assessment basis and, therefore, such taxes may not be deducted by the Series Trust®s broker on a
"withholding" basis.
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In accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes, the Series Trust is required to recognize a tax liability when it
is probable that the tax laws of foreign countries require a tax liability to be assessed on the Series
Trust®s capital gains sourced from such foreign country, assuming the relevant taxing authorities have
full knowledge of all the facts and circumstances. The tax liability is then measured at the amount
expected to be paid to the relevant taxation authorities using the tax laws and rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year. There is sometimes uncertainty about
the way enacted tax law is applied to offshore investment Series Trusts. This creates uncertainty about
whether or not a tax liability will ultimately be paid by the Series Trust. Therefore, when measuring any
uncertain tax liabilities management considers all of the relevant facts and circumstances available at
the time which could influence the likelihood of payment, including any formal or informal practices of
the relevant tax authorities.

As at September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, the Manager has determined that the Series Trust did not
have a liability to record for any unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying financial statements.
While this represents the Manager®"s best estimate there remains a risk that the foreign tax authorities
will attempt to collect taxes on capital gains earned by the Series Trust. This could happen without
giving prior warning, possibly on a retrospective basis, and could result in a loss to the Series Trust.

3. REPURCHASES OF UNITS

The Net Asset Value of each unit of the Series Trust is calculated by dividing the Net Asset Value of the
Series Trust by the total number of units of the Series Trust then outstanding. The Administrator
computes the Net Asset Value of the Series Trust at the close of business on each dealing day.

The price of units, for all purposes, in respect of AUD Class Units is calculated and paid in Australian
Dollars and in respect of JPY Class Units, inYen.

The minimum initial subscription must be no less than 1 unit and orders may not include fractions. All
unitholders must complete a subscription application. The initial purchase price for AUD Class Units is
$100 per unit and for JPY Class Units is \1,000 per unit, respectively. All payments in respect of AUD
Class Units, must be made in Australian Dollars and in respect of JPY Class Units, must be made in Yen. The
Trustee may reject any subscription for any reason and without providing reasons.
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After the initial issue of units, aneligible investor may subscribe for units on any subsequent
subscription date at the relevant subscription price. All payments in respect of AUD Class Units, shall
be made in Australian Dollars and in respect of JPY Class Units, shall be made in Yen. The Trustee may
reject any subscription for any reason and without providing reasons.

The Trustee or its duly designated agent must receive the subscription price for the units onor prior to
2:00 p.m. (London time) by no later than the second business day after the relevant subscription date.

Subscription applications are irrevocable.

The total net assets, units outstanding and net assets value per unit as of September 30, 2019 were as

follows:

Net Asset Value per
Classes of units Total net assets Units outstanding unit
AUD Class Units 3 8,677,086 77,649 $ 111.748
JPY Class Units 5,684,644 387,273 14.679

$ 14,361,730 464,922

The total net assets, units outstanding and net assets value per unit as of September 30, 2018 were as

follows:

Net Asset Value per
Classes of units Total net assets Units outstanding unit
AUD Class Units $ 6,340,292 64,147 $ 98.840
JPY Class Units 8,946,081 689,618 12.973

$ 15,286,373 753,765

The operational currency of the units is the Australian Dol lar.

As of September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, all issued units were held by one unitholder, who holds
100% of interest in the net assets.

A unitholder may transfer its holdings in units only with the prior written consent of the Trustee which

consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. No transfer of units will be effective and binding
on the Trustee or unitholder until entered into the Series Trust”s register of unitholders.
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Each unitholder may submit to the Trustee or its duly designated agent a repurchase notice requesting to
have all or a portion of its units repurchased at the Repurchase Price on the relevant repurchase date.
Repurchase orders may be submitted in either the relevant currency or inunits. If such notice isnot in
respect of the entire holding units of such unitholder recorded in the register of unitholders then the
Trustee in its sole discretion may apply a minimum repurchase requirement of 1 unit. Repurchase notices
are irrevocable.

At the time of each repurchase of units prior to the Final Repurchase Day, no repurchase fee is applied to
each unit being repurchased.

Amounts payable to the unitholder in connection with the repurchase of units of any class is paid in cash
but may be made in kind (or partially in kind) by the distribution of securities held by the Trustee to the
extent that the Trustee, in consultation with the Manager, determines it to be in the best interests of
the unitholder. IT such a determination is made by the Trustee, distributions to all repurchasing
unitholders on the same day is made on the same basis.

Payment may also be made in such other currency that may be freely purchased with such applicable
currency as a unitholder may request, provided that any foreign exchange cost shall be deducted from the
amount payable to such unitholder. No such repurchase proceeds will bear interest prior to actual
distribution.

During the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, the proceeds from units issued,
repurchased and outstanding were as fol lows:

At September Proceeds from Proceeds from At September
Classes of units 30, 2018 units issued units repurchased 30, 2019
AUD Class Units $ 6,438,570 % 3,252,811 % (1,719,191) $ 7,972,190
JPY Class Units 9,815,371 - (4,137,611) 5,677,760
Total $ 16,253,941 % 3,252,811  $ (5,856,802) $ 13,649,950
At September 30, Proceeds from Proceeds from At September
Classes of units 2017 units issued units repurchased 30, 2018
AUD Class Units $ 9,820,783 $ 447,968 % (3,830,181) $ 6,438,570
JPY Class Units 17,471,282 39,237 (7,695,148) 9,815,371

Total $ 27,292,065 $ 487,205 $  (11,525,329) $ 16,253,941
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During the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, the number of units issued, repurchased
and outstanding were as fol lows:

At September At September
Classes of units 30, 2018 Units issued Units repurchased 30, 2019
AUD Class Units 64,147 29,595 (16,093) 77,649
JPY Class Units 689,618 - (302,345) 387,273
Total 753,765 29,595 (318,438) 464,922

At September At September
Classes of units 30, 2017 Units issued Units repurchased 30, 2018
AUD Class Units 99,471 4,707 (40,031) 64,147
JPY Class Units 1,301,849 3,250 (615,481) 689,618
Total 1,401,320 7,957 (655,512) 753,765

The issue and repurchase of units and payments in respect of such transactions will be suspended in any
circumstances where the calculation of the Net Asset Value per unit is suspended. The Trustee will inform
unitholder of such a suspension as soon as practicable after it is imposed or lifted. Subscription
applications and repurchase notices cannot be withdrawn during such suspension and will be processed for
the next subscription date or repurchase date, as the case may be.

4_ CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities. Estimates are continual ly evaluated and based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The Series Trust may, from time to time, hold financial instruments that are not quoted in
active markets, such as over-the-counter derivatives. Fair values of such instruments are determined by
using valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair
values, they are validated and periodical ly reviewed by the Manager .
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5. FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

5.1 Principal Risk Factors of the Series Trust

The Series Trust"s investment portfolio comprises the Col lateralized Swaps. The Series Trust"s
activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
management of these risks is carried out by the Manager under policies approved by the Trustee.

The Series Trust uses different methods to measure and manage the various types of risks towhich it is
exposed; these methods are explained below.

(A) Currency Risk

Collateralized Swaps transactions inwhich the Series Trust invests may be denominated or quoted in
currencies other than the functional currency of the Series Trust. For this reason, changes in foreign
currency exchange rates can affect the value of the Series Trust”s portfolio.

Generally, when the Series Trust"s functional currency rises in value against another currency, a
security denominated in that currency loses value because the currency is worth less giving effect to the
conversion into the Series Trust®s functional currency. Conversely, when the Series Trust"s functional
currency decreases in value against another currency, a security denominated in that currency gains
value.

This risk, generally known as "currency risk," means that a strong functional currency of the Series
Trust may reduce returns to investors while a weak functional currency of the Series Trust may increase
those returns. Currency rates may Tluctuate significantly over short periods of time for a number of
reasons, including changes in interest rates, intervention (or the failure to intervene) by the
governments, central banks or supranational entities such as the International Monetary Fund, or by the
imposition of currency controls or other political developments. As a result, the Series Trust"s
investments in foreign-currency denominated securities may reduce its returns. Certain positions taken
by the Series Trust are designed to profit from forecasting currency price movements. Predicting future
prices is inherently uncertain and the losses incurred, if the market moves against a position, will not
be hedged. The speculative aspect of attempting to predict absolute price movements is generally
perceived to exceed that involved in attempting to predict relative price fluctuations.
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Through the use of various types of foreign currency transactions, the Series Trust or classes thereof,
as applicable, may be exposed to the performance of a particular currency or currencies to contribute to
the performance of the Series Trust or class. There can be no assurance that the Manager will employ a
successful currency program and the Series Trust or class could incur losses attributable to its
currency activities when the value of the functional currency weakens against the other currencies of
the Series Trust or classes. In addition, the Series Trust or class will incur transaction costs in
connection with the currency strategy designated by the Manager.

The table below summarizes the Series Trust®s exposure to currency risks as of September 30, 2019:

Other Assets
As of September 30, Cash and cash  Collateralized and Liabilities % of
2019 equivalents Swaps (Net) Net Assets Net Assets
Japanese Yen JPY $ - $ 5,659,494 $ (48) $ 5,659,446 39.4%
United States Dol lar usb 212 - - 212 0.0%
212 5,659,494 (48) 5,659,658 39.4%
Australian Dollar AUD - 8,701,977 95 8,702,072 60.6%
$ 212 $ 14,361,471 $ 47 $ 14,361,730 100.0%

The table below summarizes the Series Trust"s exposure to currency risks as of September 30, 2018:

Other Assets
As of September 30, Cash and cash  Collateralized and Liabilities % of
2018 equivalents Swaps (Net) Net Assets Net Assets
Japanese Yen JPY $ - $ 8,922,700 $ 42) % 8,922,658 58.4%
United States Dol lar usb 198 - - 198 0.0%
198 8,922,700 42) 8,922,856 58.4%
Australian Dollar AUD 93 6,363,423 1 6,363,517 41.6%
$ 291 $ 15,286,123 $ (41) $ 15,286,373 100.0%

The following table summarizes the sensitivity of the Series Trust"s assets and liabilities to changes
in foreign exchange movements at September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018. The analysis is based on the
assumptions that the relevant foreign exchange rate increased/(decreased) against the Australian
Dollar by the percentages disclosed in the table, with all other variables held constant. This
represents management”s best estimate of

a reasonably possible shift in the foreign exchange rates, having regard to historical volatility of
those rates.
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Reasonably possible shift

: Impact to Series Trust Net
in currency rate 2019

Currency Assets

JPY +/- 11.33% +/- 641,215

usb +/- 6.51% +/- 14
Rea;iogjf:gnit;sﬁg EE! 23&; ft Impact to Series Trust Net

Currency Assets

JPY +/- 6.87% +/- 612,987

usb +/- 7.84% +/- 16

(B) Interest Rate Risk

The majority of the Series Trust"s financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing. Interest
bearing assets held by the Series Trust are comprised of cash and cash equivalents whose maturity is less
than three months. As aresult, the Series Trust is not subject to any significant risk due to
Tluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates.

Under the Collateralized Swaps, the Series Trust pays Col lateralized Swaps Counterparty LIBOR + spread,
while it receives the performance of AS51Prop Index from Col lateralized Swaps Counterparty. LIBOR is
reset monthly.

(C) Market Price Risk

The market price of securities owned by the Series Trust may go up or down, sometimes rapidly or
unpredictably. Securities may decline in value due to factors affecting securities markets generally or
particular industries represented in the securities markets. The value of a security may decline due to
general market conditions which are not specifically related to a particular company, such as real or
perceived adverse economic conditions, supply and demand for particular securities or instruments,
changes in the general outlook for corporate earnings, changes in interest or currency rates or adverse
investor sentiment. They may also decline due to factors which affect aparticular industry or
industries, such as labor shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions withinan
industry. During a general downturn in the securities markets, multiple asset classes may decline in
value simultaneously. Equity securities generally have greater price volatility than fixed income
securities.

Price risk is the risk that the value of the investment will fluctuate as a result of changes in market

prices, whether caused by factors specific to the Strategy or factors affecting all instruments traded
in the market.
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As the Series Trust"s investments are carried at fair value with fair value changes recognized in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, all changes inmarket conditions will directly affect the total net
assets and total comprehensive income.

A 1% increase in the Strategy prices at September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, would have increased
the net assets attributable to the holder of units by $143,615 and $152,861, respectively. A decrease of
1% would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect.

(D) CreditRisk

The Series Trust takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to
pay amounts in full when they fall due. Impairment provisions are provided for losses that have been
incurred by the Statement of Financial Position date, ifany.

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation
or commitment that it has entered into with the Series Trust. The Manager determines concentration risk
in relation to exposure to individual counterparties. At the Statement of Financial Position date, the
entire net assets are held by the Collateralized Swaps Counterparty.

The Collateralized Swaps Counterparty has charged collateral to the Trustee for the benefit of the
unitholder and the Trustee has recourse to such collateral in the event of a failure by the
Collateralized Swaps Counterparty to perform its payment and other obligations under the Collateralized
Swaps. However, there is no guarantee that the value of the collateral realized will be sufficient to
meet the Col lateralized Swaps Counterparty"s payment obligations under the Col lateralized Swaps.

Where the value of the collateral decreases below the predetermined collateral coverage, the agreement
requires the Collateralized Swaps Counterparty to post additional collateral . As at September 30, 2019
and September 30, 2018 the Series Trust"s col lateral value were $14,621,278 (US$9,861,321) and
$24,229,423 (US$17,531,199), respectively.

The credit risk is mitigated by undertaking transactions with reputable financial institutions and
counterparties. The Manager monitors its risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial positions
of such parties on an ongoing basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of all financial assets as of September 30, 2019 and September 30,

2018 is the carrying amounts as shown on the Statement of Financial Position, without taking into account
the net realizable value of col lateral, where charged. None of these assets are impaired or past due.
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The clearing and depository operations for the Series Trust”s security transactions are mainly
concentrated with the Custodian, with a Fitch credit rating of A+. The Collateralized Swaps are entered
intowith Credit Suisse International, with aMoody"s credit rating of Al at September 30, 2019 and
September 30, 2018.

At September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, all cash and cash equivalents were placed in custody with
the Custodian.

(E) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk exists when particular investments are difficult to purchase or sell. The Series Trust"s
investments in illiquid securities may reduce the returns of the Series Trust because it may be unable to
sell the illiquid securities at an advantageous time or price. To the extent that the Series Trust"s
principal investment strategies involve non-developed country securities and securities with
substantial market and/or credit risk, the Series Trust will tend to have the greatest exposure to
liquidity risk. The Series Trust"s investments are not traded in an organized market and may be illiquid.
As aresult, the Series Trust may not be able to quickly liquidate its investments in these instruments at
an amount close to their fair value to meet i1ts liquidity requirements.

The Series Trust"s constitution provides for the daily cancellation of units and it is therefore exposed
to the liquidity risk of meeting a unitholder”s repurchase at any time if it is unable to sell sufficient
investments to meet the repurchase amount. Units are repurchased on demand at the holder®s option.
However, the Trustee does not envisage that this contractual maturity disclosed will be representative
of the actual cash outflows, as holders of these instruments typical ly retain them for the medium to long
term.

The Manager monitors the Series Trust”"s liquidity position on an ongoing basis. Financial liabilities
have residual contractual maturities of less than three months. Liquidity risk is managed by investing
no more than 15% of the Series Trust”s Net Asset Value in illiquid assets which cannot be readily
realized. The total value of securities sold short shall not at any time exceed the Net Asset Value of the
Series Trust.

The tables below analyze the Series Trust®s financial liabilities into relevant maturity grouping based

on the remaining period at the Statement of Financial Position date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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At September 30, 2019 Less than 1 month 1 - 3months Total
Bank overdraft $ 67,149 $ - $ 67,149

Contractual cash out flows (excluding
net assets attributable to the holder

of units) $ 67,149 $ - $ 67,149
At September 30, 2018 Less than 1 month 1 - 3months Total

Bank overdraft $ 42 $ - $ 42
Payables for:

Repurchases of units 30,814 - 30,814

Contractual cash out flows (excluding
net assets attributable to the holder
of units) $ 30,856 $ - $ 30,856

(F) Risk Management

The Series Trust"s investment Manager s team is supported by certain risk management systems and
professionals, which provide regular reporting on all portfolio positions and quantitative risk
measures. Prospective investors should be aware that no risk management systenm is fail-safe, and no
assurance can be given that risk frameworks employed by the Manager (e.g., stop-win, stop-loss, sharpe
ratios, loss limits, value-at-risk or any other methodology now known or later developed) will achieve
their objectives and prevent or otherwise limit substantial losses. No assurance can be given that the
risk management systems and techniques or pricing models will accurately predict future trading
patterns or the manner inwhich investments are priced in financial markets in the future.

(G) Capital Risk Management

The capital of the Series Trust is represented by the net assets attributable to the holder of units. The
amount of net assets attributable to the holder of units can change significantly on a daily basis as the
Series Trust is subject to daily subscriptions and repurchases at the discretion of the unitholder. The
Series Trust"s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Series Trust"s ability to continue as
a going concern in order to provide returns for the unitholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Series
Trust. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Series Trust"s policy is to perform the
following:

Monitor the level of daily subscriptions and repurchases relative to the liquid assets and adjust
the amount of distributions the Series Trust pays to the holder of units.

123/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AustraliaREIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

Repurchase and issue new units in accordance with the constitutional documents of the Series Trust.

The Manager monitors capital on the basis of the value of net assets attributable to the holder of units.

5.2 Additional Series Trust"s Risks

(A) Custody Risk

Neither the Trustee nor the Manager controls the custodianship of the Series Trust"s entire holding of
securities. The Custodian or other banks or brokerage firms selected to act as custodians may become
insolvent, causing the Series Trust to lose all or a portion of the funds or securities held by those
custodians.

(B) Risk of Indemnification

The Trustee, the Manager, the Administrator, the Custodian, and other parties, and each of their
respective agents, principals, officers, employees, and affiliates are entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Series Trust under certain circumstances which may result in a decrease in Net Asset
Value per unit.

(C) Settlement Risk

Settlement and clearance procedures in certain foreign markets differ significantly from those in the
United States, the European Union and Japan. Foreign settlement and clearance procedures and trade
regulations also may involve certain risks (such as delays in payment for or delivery of securities) not
typical ly associated with the settlement of United States investments. At times, settlements in certain
foreign countries have not kept pace with the number of securities transactions. These problems may make
it difficult for the Manager to carry out transactions for the account of the Series Trust.

IT the Manager cannot settle or is delayed in settling a purchase of securities, it may miss attractive
investment opportunities and certain of the Series Trust”s assets may be uninvested with no return
earned thereon for some year. If the Manager cannot settle or is delayed in settling a sale of securities,
the Series Trust may lose money if the value of the security then declines or, if it has contracted to sell
the security to another party; the Series Trust could be Iiable for any losses incurred.

124/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AustraliaREIT Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

(D) Counterparty and Broker Risk

The financial institutions and counterparties, including banks and brokerage firms, such as the
Custodian, with which the Manager or its delegate trades or invests for the account of the Series Trust,
may encounter financial difficulties and default on their respective obligations owed in respect of the
Series Trust. Any such default could result in material losses to the Series Trust. Inaddition, the
Manager may pledge collateral for the account of the Series Trust to the counterparties in order to
secure certain transactions.

The Series Trust has not offset any financial assets or liabilities in the Statement of Financial
Position and did not hold any derivative assets.

(E) Generated Income and Distributions

There is no guarantee that there will be any Generated Income. Distributions may be paid inwhole or in
part out of investment principal attributable to the units or, alternatively, the Generated Income may
be zero. Adistribution can in effect result in a return of an investor®s initial capital or capital gains
thereby eroding that capital to the extent the distribution exceeds available income. In consequence of
this possibility, investors seeking capital preservation may not achieve this given probable
deterioration in the value of the Series Trust"s investments caused by declining asset values and a
return of capital to investors by way of distribution. If the Series Trust is not profitable, the
Repurchase Price a unitholder receives back in respect of a repurchase of units may be less than the
unitholder®s initial investment.

(F) No Interest in the Col lateralized Swaps

The return on the units depends, amongst other things, on the performance of the Collateralized Swaps. An
investment in the units does not give a unitholder adirect interest in the Collateralized Swaps or any
underlying assets linked to the Col lateralized Swaps nor does it give the unitholder any right to control
the actions of the Collateralized Swaps Counterparty, any underlying asset linked to the Collateralized
Swaps or any service provider to the Collateralized Swaps Counterparty. In order to offset (whether in
whole or in part) its liability under the Collateralized Swaps, the Collateralized Swaps Counterparty or
a third party may own an interest (directly or indirectly) in the underlying assets comprising the
relevant strategy contained in the Col lateralized Swaps, however, there is no requirement that any such
person must maintain such an interest or as to the size of any such interest.

(G) Early Termination of the Series Trust

Although the Final Repurchase Day of the Series Trust is scheduled for September 16, 2021, the Final
Repurchase Day will be brought forward should a Compulsory Repurchase Event occur.
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5.3 Fair Value Estimation and Hierarchy Designation
The Series Trust applies IFRS 13, Fair value measurement® and utilizes the last traded market price for
its fair valuation inputs for both financial assets and liabilities.

An active market is a market inwhich transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined
by using valuation techniques. The Series Trust uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are
based on market conditions existing at each period end date. Valuation techniques used for non-
standardized financial instruments such as options, currency swaps and other over-the-counter
derivatives, include the use of comparable recent arm"s length transactions, reference to other
instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and
other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants making the maximum use of market inputs
and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

For instruments for which there is no active market, the Series Trust may use internally developed
models, which are usual ly based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognized as standard
within the industry. Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore
estimated based on assumptions.

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with
certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions
the Series Trust holds. Valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to al low for additional

factors including model risk, liquidity risk and counterparty risk.

The Series Trust classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.

The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
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Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorized in its
entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair
value measurement in its entirety. IT a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require
significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3 measurement.
Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires
judgment, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes’ observable® requires significant judgment by the Administrator,
under advisement of the Manager. The Administrator, under advisement of the Manager, considers
observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated,
reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively
involved in the relevant market.

The following is a summary of the fair valuations according to the inputs used as of September 30, 2019 in
valuing the Series Trust"s financial assets held for trading:

(Unadjusted)
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Significant Other Significant
Financial Assets at Fair Value Investments Observable Inputs Unobservable Fair Value at
Through Profit or Loss (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3) 09/30/2019
Investment in Col lateralized $ _ g 14,361,471 $ _ s 14,361,471
Swaps
Financial assets, at fair value $ _ s 14,361,471 $ s 14,361,471

through profitor loss

The following is a summary of the fair valuations according to the inputs used as of September 30, 2018 in
valuing the Series Trust"s financial assets held for trading:

(Unadjusted)
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Significant Other Significant
Financial Assets at Fair Value Investments Observable Inputs Unobservable Fair Value at
Through Profitor Loss (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3) 09/30/2018
;nvestment inCollateralized $ _ g 15,286,123 $ _ g 15,286,123
waps
Financial assets, at fair value $ - % 15,286,123 $ - $ 15,286,123

through profitor loss
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During the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 there were no transfers between Levels
1, 2and 3.

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs
are classified within Level 2. These include over-the-counter derivatives. As Level 2 investments
include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions,
valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-transferability, which are generally based
on available market information.

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently.
As of September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, the Series Trust did not hold investments classified as
Level 3.

Valuation of the Collateralized Swaps is determined in accordance with the valuation model stated in
Appendix 22 to the Offering Memorandum. Refer to Note 2.2 (D) for further details.

Financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value through profit or loss

(i) At September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, cash and cash equivalents and all other assets and
liabilities (including receivables for investments sold, bank overdraft and payables for
repurchases of units) are deemed short-term financial assets and liabilities whose carrying
amounts approximate fair value because of their short-term nature. Refer to Note 2 for a
description of the valuation techniques.

(i) Net assets attributable to the holder of units. The Series Trust repurchases and issues the units
at the amount equal to the proportionate share of net assets of the Series Trust at the time of
repurchase, calculated on a basis consistent with that used in these financial statements.
Accordingly, the carrying amount of net assets attributable to the holder of units approximates
their fair value.
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6. COLLATERALIZED SWAPS

The Series Trust invests in the Col lateralized Swaps, the value of which is linked to the performance of
the Strategy for the account of the Series Trust. Fluctuations in value are recorded as unrealized gain
or loss. On the termination date, the Series Trust will receive a payment from the counterparty based on
the value of the referenced security and record a realized gain or loss. Structured products are subject
to various risks discussed in Note 5.

AUD Class Units - Collateralized Swap Outstanding at September 30, 2019: (60.6% of Net Assets)

Unrealized
Strategy Expiration Date Counterparty Fair Value Depreciation
Australian REIT Index Credit Suisse
Strategy 9/10/2021 International $ 8,701,977 $ (3,369)

JPY Class Units - Collateralized Swap Outstanding at September 30, 2019: (39.4% of Net Assets)

Unrealized
Strategy Expiration Date Counterparty Fair Value Depreciation
Australian REIT Index Credit Suisse
Strategy 9/10/2021 International $ 5,659,494 $ (930)

AUD Class Units - Collateralized Swap Outstanding at September 30, 2018: (41.6% of Net Assets)

Unrealized
Strategy Expiration Date Counterparty Fair Value Depreciation
Australian REIT Index Credit Suisse
Strategy 9/10/2021 International $ 6,363,423 $ (124,828)

JPY Class Units - Collateralized Swap Outstanding at September 30, 2018: (58.4% of Net Assets)

Unrealized
Strategy Expiration Date Counterparty Fair Value Depreciation
Australian REIT Index Credit Suisse
Strategy 9/10/2021 International $ 8,922,700 $ (175,057)
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7. NET GAIN ON INVESTMENTS IN COLLATERALIZED SWAPS

September 30, 2019 September 30, 2018

Net gain on financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit and loss consist of the
following:

Net realized gain on investments in
Collateralized Swaps $ 1,383,753 $ 1,275,037

Total net realized gainon financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

$ 1,383,753 $ 1,275,037

Movement in unrealized appreciation on
investment in Collateralized Swaps $ 295,586 $ 304,734

Total net change in unrealized appreciation on
financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profitor loss $ 295,586 $ 304,734

In respect of a repurchase of units of the Collateralized Swaps on any repurchase day, the Trustee agrees
to decrease the notional amount proportionately to the number of units repurchased in the Series Trust
and the Collateralized Swaps Counterparty is authorized by the Trustee to decrease the notional amount
of this transaction accordingly.

For each unit repurchased in the Series Trust the Repurchased Amount per unit is calculated as fol lows:
(Notional Amount per unit) x (the Strategy Unit Level)

Where:

"Notional Amount per unit'" means the number of notional amount per unit calculated on each calendar day

after the Effective Date;

""the Strategy Unit Level™ means the number calculated by the Calculation Agent in respect of any dealing
day.

The Repurchased Amount per unit is calculated by the Calculation Agent as of such dealing day and
provided to the Trustee as soon as reasonably practicable after such dealing day.
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8. FEES, EXPENSES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

8.1 Fees and Expenses

(A) Administrator Fees

The Administrator receives an annual fee of 0.03% of net assets subject to an annual minimum monthly fee
of US$3,333. This is paid by the Fee Agent using the Operational Costs Fee. The Administrator is also
entitled to reimbursements from the Operational Costs Fee for all out-of-pocket expenses properly
incurred by it in the performance of its duties.

(B) Custody Fees

The Custodian receives an asset based fee and transactional charges dependent on market demographics of
the assets, paid by the Fee Agent using the Operational Costs Fee, for providing custody services. The
Custodian is also entitled to reimbursements from the Operational Costs Fee for all out-of-pocket
expenses properly incurred by it in the performance of its duties.

(C) Transfer Agent Fees
The Transfer Agent receives an annual fee of 0.01% of net assets and a $10 fee per transaction. This is
paid by the Fee Agent using the Operational Costs Fee.

8.2 Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The Trustee,

Fee Agent, Manager, Collateralized Swaps Counterparty, Agent Member Company, Distributor and Manager
Support Service Provider are all related parties to the Series Trust.

There were no other transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of business.
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(A) Trustee Fees

The Trustee is entitled to receive a fixed annual fee of US$10,000 per annum payable annually in advance
which is paid by the Fee Agent using the Operational Costs Fee. All proper out-of-pocket expenses and
disbursements incurred on behal T of the Series Trust are also reimbursed to the Trustee from the
Operational Costs Fee. The fees earned by the Trustee during the years ended September 30, 2019 and
September 30, 2018 and outstanding fees payable to the Trustee as of September 30, 2019 and September 30,
2018, if any, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial
Position, respectively, as a part of Fee agent fees.

(B) Fee Agent Fees

The Trustee has entered into a fee agent appointment agreement with the Fee Agent pursuant to which the
Fee Agent has undertaken to pay, for the account of the Series Trust, certain ongoing and operational
costs and expenses of the Series Trust (the* Ordinary Costs” ). The fees earned by the Fee Agent during
the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 and outstanding fees payable to the Fee Agent as
of September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, if any, have been disclosed in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial Position, respectively. Fee agent fees include the
formation expenses, manager fees, trustee fees, custody fees, manager support service provider fees,
audit fees and the following costs and expenses, which are, in reasonable judgement of the Fee Agent,
determined as ordinary costs and expenses:

(i) auditing costs that are not included in the audit fees and expenses;

(ii) annual fees payable in respect of the Series Trust or the Trust to government bodies and
agencies; and

(i) insurance costs (if any).

For the avoidance of doubt, the Fee Agent is not responsible for the payment of any fees related to the
Collateralized Swaps, any broker fees relating to security transactions, any taxes relating to the
purchase or disposal of securities, legal or compensation costs, any communication costs related to
investors services and unitholders meetings, confirmations, financial reporting and other reporting,
proxies, the costs relating to the Offering Memorandum and Appendix 22 and other similar offering
documents and the costs relating to the preparation, printing, translation and delivery of such
documents, and any other extraordinary costs and expenses that would not usually occur.
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Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

The Trustee has agreed to indemnify the Fee Agent, out of the assets of the Series Trust, against all
actions, proceedings, claims, costs, demands and expenses which may be brought against, suffered or
incurred by the Fee Agent by reason of the performance or non-performance of its obligations or functions
as Fee Agent under the terms of the fee agent appointment agreement (including all legal, professional
and other expenses reasonably and properly incurred), except where such action, proceeding, claim,
cost, demand or expense arises from the gross negligence, bad faith, fraud or wilful default of the Fee
Agent.

The Fee Agent is entitled to receive Operational Costs Fees, accrued on and calculated as at each
valuation day.

The Fee Agent is entitled to receive a fee of 0.41% per annum of the Net Asset Value and a fee of 0.03% per
annum of the Net Asset Value (subject to a minimum monthly fee of USD3,333) (together the" Operational
Costs Fees” ).

The Operational Costs Fees are payable by the Administrator, on behalf of the Trustee, out of the assets
of the Series Trust. To the extent that the Operational Costs Fee is not sufficient to cover the Ordinary
Costs, the Fee Agent is liable for any outstanding amounts. Any amounts remaining following payment of
the Ordinary Costs shall be retained by the Fee Agent as its remuneration for acting as fee agent in
respect of the Series Trust. The Operational Costs Fee accrues daily on an actual / 365 day count fraction
basis and is payable quarterly in arrears in the amount accrued, from and excluding, for the first
accrued period only, the initial closing day and for all other accrued periods, the last day of each
calendar quarter.

Formation Expenses include offering costs related to the issuance of units (including but not limited to
the fees related to the preparation and submission of the Offering Documents) and fees related to the
marketing of the Series Trust, if any; and other costs related to the formation of the Series Trust and
the offering of units, other than those initially incurred. Such costs and expenses are payable by the
Fee Agent using the Operational Costs Fees.

(C) Manager Fees

The Manager is entitled to receive out of the Operational Cost Fee, a management fee of US$5,000 per annum
payable monthly in arrears. The fees earned by the Manager during the years ended September 30, 2019 and
September 30, 2018 and outstanding fees payable to the Manager as of September 30, 2019 and September 30,
2018, if any, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial
Position, respectively, as a part of Fee agent fees.
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Notes to Financial Statements

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Expressed in Australian Dol lars)

(D) Agent Member Company Fees

The Agent Member Company is entitled to receive a fee of 0.01% per annum of the Net Asset Value accrued on
and calculated as at each valuation day and payable quarterly in arrears. The Agent Member Company Fees
are paid by the Administrator, on behalf of the Manager out of the assets of the Series Trust. The fees
earned by the Agent Member Company during the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, have
been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(E) Collateralized Swaps Counterparty

The Series Trust is permitted to enter into Collateralized Swaps with Credit Suisse International, a
related party to the Manager. Open Col lateralized Swaps contracts at September 30, 2019 and September
30, 2018, are discussed in Note 6 and Note 7. During the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30,
2018, there was net realized gain of $1,383,753 and $1,275,037, respectively, and there was change in
unrealized appreciation of $295,586 and $304,734, respectively, on Collateralized Swaps with Credit
Suisse International which is disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(F) Distribution Fees

In respect of each class of units, the Distributor is entitled to receive a fee of 0.75% per annum of the
Net Asset Value accrued on and calculated as at each valuation day multiplied by the fraction of units of
such class for which the Distributor is unitholder divided by the total number of units issued in respect
of such class of units, and payable monthly in arrears (the* Distribution Fees” ). The Distribution Fees
are payable by the Administrator, on behalf of the Manager, out of the assets of the Series Trust. The
Tees earned by the Distributor during the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, have
been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(G) Manager Support Service Provider Fees
The Manager Support Service Provider Fees shall be included in and paid as part of the Investment
Management Fees.

9. BORROWING AND LEVERAGE POLICY
The Series Trust may borrow up to 10% of its Net Asset Value if required to facilitate short term cash

flows. During the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, the Series Trust did not incur
any borrowings.
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10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Trustee has evaluated all subsequent transactions and events through January 29, 2020, the date on
which these financial statements were available to be issued. Effective October 1, 2019 through January
29, 2020, there were subscriptions of $282,602 and repurchases of $1,463,655. During the same period,
there were distributions of $88,368. There are no other subsequent events to report as relates to the
Series Trust.

135/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

136/210



EDINETOOOO

DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020
13,751,687.09 1,007,861
0 0
13,751,687.09 1,007,861

365,223

70,287

1,108.3( )

116.28( 8,522.16
)

137/210



50

33.2

EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

02110-1548 50

10

10

15

21

138/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1)
2020 735,000 8,016
2020 31
109.06
@)
10

2020

139/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
ooooodgoodooodooodd

213,274,413

29,900,581
! 3,743,377,638
89,538,862
34 383,833,296,657

140/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2017 2017 12 31 2018 2018
12 31
22 38
59 131

23 103

2020 1 31
109.06

141/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018 12 31
2018 2017 t
USD USD
22.534 2.458 11,246 1.226
22.534 2.458 11,246 1,226
4 22.534 2.458 11,246 1,226
5 205,000 22.357 190,000 20.721
8 1 41 4
227,542 24.816 201,287 21,952
6 (121,067)  (13,204)  (111,931)  (12,207)
’ 106,475 11,612 89,356 9,745
106,475 11,612 89,356 9,745
7 _ _ _ _
106,475 11,612 89,356 9,745
2
15
2018 1 1 IFRS 15 9

18

142/210



EDINETOOOO

DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018 12 31

2018 2017

UsD UsD
9 1,213,367 132,330 1,016,181 110,825
10 206,873 22,562 299,223 32,633
1,420,240 154,891 1,315,404 143,458
10 3,735 407 5,374 586
3,735 407 5,374 586
11 735,000 80,159 735,000 80,159
681,505 74,325 575,030 62,713
1,416,505 154,484 1,310,030 142,872
1,420,240 154,891 1,315,404 143,458

2
15
2018 1 1 IFRS 15 9

18

o’ o/ o\

143/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018 12 31
USD USsD usD
2018
2018
2018 1 1 735,000 80,159 575,030 62,713 1,310,030 142,872
- - 106,475 11,612 106,475 11,612
2018 12 31 735,000 80,159 681,505 74,325 1,416,505 154,484
2017
2017
2017 1 1 735,000 80,159 485,674 52,968 1,220,674 133,127
- - 89,356 9,745 89,356 9,745
2017 12 31 735,000 80,159 575,030 62,713 1,310,030 142,872

144/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018 12 31
2018 2017 ¢
UsD UsD
106,475 11,612 89,356 9,745
4 (22,534) (2,458)  (11,246)  (1,226)
(8) (1) (41) 4)
83,933 9,154 78,069 8,514
92,358 10,073 176,907 19,293
92,358 10,073 176,907 19,293
(1,639) (179) 1,856 202
(1,639) (179) 1,856 202
174,652 19,048 256,832 28,010
4 22,534 2,458 11,246 1,226
22,534 2,458 11,246 1,226
197,186 21,505 268,078 29,237
1,016,181 110,825 748,103 81,588
1,213,367 132,330 1,016,181 110,825
9 1,213,367 132,330 1,016,181 110,825
1,213,367 132,330 1,016,181 110,825
2
15
2018 1 1 IFRS 15 9

18

145/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

KY1-1104
309 c/o Maples Corporate Services
Limited, P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

2.

@

IFRS
IFRS I1AS
1ASB

®)

IFRS

©
USD

146/210



@

®

2(9)

@™

@

IFRS 9

),

IFRS 9

147/210

EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

IFRS 9
ECL



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

@
Q)
(i)
(i)
(V)
Q)
(i)
Gii)
(iv)
)

(vi) @
(vii) @(1)

®

IFRS 9 2018 1 1

IFRS 9 2014 7 IASB IAS 39 IFRS 9
IFRS 9
IFRS 9
IAS 39
IFRS 9 IFRS 7
IFRS 9 2018 1 1

148/210



2.

2017 10

1
1

IFRS

IFRS 15

15

2016

2018

2018

9

4

1ASB

IFRS

15

IFRS 15

IFRS

1ASB

IFRS 15

IFRS 15
IFRS 15

EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

IFRS 9 2019 1
2018 1
2014 5 IASB IFRS 15
IFRS 15

IFRS

IFRS 15

IFRS 15 IFRS 15
IFRS 15 IFRS 15

149/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

3.
1ASB IFRS
2(k)
17
4.
2018 2017
22,534 11,246
22,534 11,246
5.
2018 2017
205,000 190,000
205,000 190,000
6.
2018 2017
(1,315) (1,311)
(545) -
(1,860) (1,311)
(3,117) (3,142)
(106,500)  (105,033)
(9,590) (2,445)

(119,207)  (110,620)
(121,067)  (111,931)

150/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

7.
2020 1 18
8.
2018 12 31
5,000 2017 5,000 2018 12 31
a
a
a
CS
CS
J-REIT Fund
us

NB/MYAM REIT

UK

151/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AMP

us

AMP REIT
J-REIT

US REIT

17-20

5-7

CAT

2018 2017

1,213,367 1,016,181
1,213,367 1,016,181

152/210



EDINETOOOO

DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

10.
2018 2017
206,873 192,723
— 106,500
206,873 299,223
2018 2017
3,735 5,374
3,735 5,374
11.
@
2018 2017
1 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
735,000 735,000 735,000 735,000

®

153/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

12.

@)

®)

2018 2017 12 31

©

2018
2017 12 31

@

HKD

HKD UsD USD HKD

)

2018 12 31

154/210



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018 12 31 2017 12 31
- 205,000 205,000 — 191,632 191,632
- 205,000 205,000 - 191,632 191,632
- - - 1,871 1,632 3,503
735,000 — 735,000 735,000 — 735,000
735,000 - 735,000 736,871 1,632 738,503
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
- 205,000 205,000 - 190,000 190,000
2018 2017
106,500 105,033

106,500 105,033

155/210



14.
2018 12 31
15.
2018
2017
16.
2018
17. 2018 12 31

1ASB 2018 12

31

156/210

EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad



EDINETOOOO

DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)

Ooooooooooooooooooad

il Sugipe Mownpenind {Conaon) Limeied
Flnameia! wstemnds fr the venr e 31 Decembee 2008

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended

31 December 2018

Refererse
0 Me'e
2018 2017
Statement of profit or loss (USDY)
Interest income 23534 11246
- of which Interest income from instruments at amortised cost 22,534 11,245
Ned intercst income’ 1 22,534 11,246
Service Fee Income 5 2050040 1510, 08000
Oither revenues i 4l
Net revenues’ = 27542 200,287
General, administrative and trading axperses ] ;““_u- liiﬂﬁ??j]]ﬂﬂj

Oyperating profit before allowance and taxation’

Profii before tax

Income tax expense

e

106,475 89,356
6475 R9,356
106475 §9.356

Profit after tax

Corsparsnva Agaess bz Beon enclein Bd a2 confim with aamont year prosomtation for ons athar Ui Cume Lighliphbe! e fxtaste ¥ hobow Befiet 10 ol

b for RarCer informanion

A oy, b il it IFBE 15 aned am w8 Dmnaary 3018, Mlowever, compars ve informesion {nmed reapod un o e o & il s et it et

The notes on pages ¥ to 18 form par of these financial statements,
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Statement of financial position at 31 December 2018

Femrrwne

o hoke
2018 2017
Assets (USIDY
Jashand due o banks 9 Ll by 1016181,
Uther assets 10 206,873 299,223
Tiial asscts 1,420,240 1.315.404
Liabilities (USD)
ther liabilities 1 3.7315 5.37
_Total liabilitics 3335 5,374
Sharehobilers’ equitv (LS
_Share capital : 11 T35.000 735,000
Retaincd carnings 681 505 575,030
Tutal shareholders eguity 1,416,505 1310, 0340
Total liabilities and sharchoklers” eyuity 1,420,240 1,315,404

Coarpararive fgires e seen seclain Bed 1 confrn with eLrmm yea prowsol Sion Far ibdam other than thows Bighlighbed in Fassotr 7 baluvw, Malew i Nae
15 fim T w1 i
The Cempian has insiallv applicd BFRS 18 aoe! Tan el | Tassery 3305 Mevarar. compesti v mfamanice & o ceviiled urder theie (o s oordeds chosem

i i : “di VoS o feis
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on L[ o% [ Wicolas Papa

. Director
Credit Swisse Managemed: Coyman] Limited

[irecior

T

The notes on pages 8 to 18 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018

Shere  Reained

capital earnines Tetal
_2018
2018 statement of changes in equily (IS
_Balance at | January 2018 TAS000 575030 1310030
Profit for the vear — 106,475 106,475
Balanee at 31 Decembser 2018 T35,000 681,505 1,416,505
2017
2017 Statement of changes in equily (UST)
_Balance at 1 January 2017 735000 455.674 1220674
Profit for the year — 89,35 39,356
lun 31 Dee 2017 135000 575,030 1310030,

The netes on pages 8 to |8 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash fow for the vear ended 31 December 2018

Barameras
1.\H£
2018 2017

Cash fows from wperating activities (DS

Profit Tor the vear 106,475 89,356
Adjusiments to reconcile net profit 1o net cash

gencrated from operating activities

Non-cash items included in net profit before tax

il siher adjusimenis:

Interest income 4 (22,534} {11,246)
Unrealised gain and loss (8 (41)
Cash generated from before changes in operating

assels and liabilities 53,933 TB,a%
Met decrease in operating assets:

Oither gssets 92,358 | 76,507
Net decrease in opernting nssels 92,358 176,907
MNel (decreaselinerease in operating liabilitics:

Other liakilities and provisions (1,639} 1,856
Net (decreasclinerease in operating liabilitles (1,639) 1,556
Ingoang taxes prid S e
MNet cash generated from sperating activities 174,651 156,832
LCash Mows Trom financing aectivitics (USD)

Interest incoma Cl 22,534 11,246
Net ensh generated from financing activities 22,58 11,2446
Met inerease ineash and cash equivalents 197,186 268,078
Cash and cash equivalenis at the beginning of year 1,016,181 TAR, 103
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year

{(LsDy 1,213,367 1,004,181
Cash and dug from banks q 1,213,367 1,016,181
Cosh and cosh equivalents at the end of vear 1,213,367 1,016,151

Camparative Apaes have beer coclmalBed 1 Coltlorm with (usfanl yesr pooionioc S Sem ofter thae ibhous b ghlighied in fooergie 1 bolow. Relinf 1o Nae
LY Pt fionfed o Srmarien
VT lee Commgviniy (i il gl e CF RS 05 ] % i o ) Sy 008 ot v, ool i piacions 1% 0oL ristabed inde Seae | e akon el chossn.

e notes on pages 5 to 18 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Principal activities

Credit Suisse Managemen? (Cayman) Limited (the “Company”™) is incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liakility. The Company’s principal activities are the creation of trusts and the
administration and manzgement of assets in the trusts. The Company’s registered office i o/o Maples
Corporate Services Limited, P.O. Box 304, Ugland House, Grand Ceyman K'Y 1-1104, Cayman Islands.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
fa)  Seatemient of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 21l applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (*IFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual International
Financial Reporting Standaeds, Intermational Accounting Standards (*1AS5™) and Interpretetions jssued
by Internationsl Accounting Standards Doard (“IASB"). A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the Company is set out below.

i Rasis af preparvation of the fingackal stalemients
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the fnancial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management 1o make
Jjudgements, estimates and assumptions that afect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, labilities, income and experses. The estimales and associated assumpiions are based on
historical experience and warious other factors that are believed to be reasomable under the
circumstanees, the resulls of which form the besis of making the judgements about carrying values of
asets and linbilities that are not readily apparent from other scurces. Actual results may differ from
thest estimates,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to aceounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised If the revision affeels anly thai
pertod, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and fature
periods.

fcs Fureign currency

The company's functional and presemtation curreney is US Dollars (USD). Foreign curréncy
transactions during the year are translated into United States Dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates, Monelsry assets and lizbilities denominated in foreign currencies are transiated
into United States Dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period,
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss.

Nor-menetary fsses and liabilitics thal are messured in terms of historical cost in a forelgn currency
arc wramslated into United States Dollars using the foreign exchange rates ruling of the transaction dates,
Non-monctary nssets and liabilities denominared in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. Foreign
currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss,

&
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Cash anid cosh equivelenis

Cash and cash equivalems comprise cash at bank and on hand with banks, and short-term, highly guid
investments that are resdily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having bheen within three months of materity at acquisition.

(hher assets

Oihier assats are intlally recognised at fair value and thereafler stated al amortised cost less allowance
for impairment of doubrful debts (see note Z{g))l excep! where the receivables are interest-free loans
made 10 related parties without any fixed repayment terms of the effeet of discounting. would be
immigterial, Insweh cases, the reccivables are stated at cost less impairment for bad and doobi Tl debs,

FProvisions amd contingent labilivies

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it 15 probable that an cutflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate cash be made. Where the time
value of money 15 material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it i5 not probahble that an outflow of economic benefits will be reguired, or the amount cannot be
estimated refinbly, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote.  Possible ebligations, whose existence will anly be confirmed by the
accurronce or non-eceurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent lahilities
unless the probability of omlow of economic benelits is remote.

Impairment

The carrying amount of the Company's assats 12 reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
determine whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. 1fany such objective evidence exists,
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated at the end of each repoming period. An impairment loss is
racopnised whanever the carmrving amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losaes are recognised in the profit or loss.

Under IFRS 9, the new impairment cequirements apply pamarcily 1o Gnancial asssts measured ae
amortised cost, The impairment requirements have chonged from en incurred loss mode! under [FRS @
o an expected credit loss (“ECL™) model under [FRS 9 by incorperating reasonablie and supportable
forecasts of fitture economic conditions avoilable at the reporting date, The adoption of this does not
have a material impact to the Company's financial statements,

Revenue recagnition
Provided that it is probable that the economic henefits will flow to the Company and the revenue and

costs, i applicable, can be mensured reliably, management fee income is recognised in profit or loss
when the investment menagement service is provided,

q
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(i Expensas

All expenses are recognised in profit and loss on an accrual basis,
vt Releted purties

For the purpases of these financial siatements, a pany is considered to ba related to the Company if:
(2} A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Company if' that person:
{i}  has control or joint control over the Company;
{ii}  has significan influence over the Company; or
(ifip s a member of the key management personnel af the Campany or the Company''s parsnt.

(b}  Anentity is related to the Company i any of the following conditions applies:

(i} Theenity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is relaled o the others).,

(i) Oncenlity is anassoeiale or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or jolnt venture
ul o member of a group of which the other entity is a member),

(iii) Doth entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

{iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third party and the other entity i an associate of the third
party.

tvl  The entity is a post-cployment benefit plan for the benefll of employees of eitler the
Company or &n entity related 1o the Company.

fvi)  The entity is contrclled or joinily controlled by a person idenzified in (a).

(vii} A person Bdentified in (2)i) has significant influence over the emity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected 1o influsnce,
or be influenced by, thet person in their dealings with the entity.

i Standards and Interpretations gffective in the corrent period
The Company has adopted the following amendments in the curremt vear:
IFRS 9: Financial Instruoments (effective | January 2018)

IFRS 9 Financial listroments: In July 2014, the JASD {ssued IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments” (IFRS 9)
a3 a complete standard which replaces IAS 39, The Standard includes requirements for recognition and
messurement, impairment, derecognition and general hedge accounting. The Company cleeted, as a
policy choice permitted under [FRS 9, to continue to apply hedge accounting in accordance with [AS
39, umtil at the latest the requirements on macro hedging are finalised end released. The amendments (o
IFRS 7 Tinancial Instruments: Disclosures” resulting from IFRS 9 alsa require new disclosures as well
as the revision of current disclosure requirements. IFRS 9 is cffective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2014.

In October 2017, the 1ASD issued Prepayments Features with Megative Compenzation (Amendmenis
to IFRS 9}, The amendments are effective for anmual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with
early adoption permitted. The Company yearly adopted this amendment as al 1 Fanuery 2018,

4]
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS @ are generally applied
retrospectively; however the Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowing it not to restate
comparative information for prior periods.

The adoption of this amendments does not have a material impact to the Company®s financial statements.,

IFRS 5 Revenue fmom Contrects with Customers; In May 2014, the LASB issued [FRS 15 *Revenue
from Contracts with Customers®™ (IFRS 13), [FRS 15 cstablishes a single, comprehensive framework
for revenue recognilion. The cere principle of [FRS 15 requires thai an entily recognise revemus 1o
depict the transfer of promised goods or services lo customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be ensitied in exchange for those goods or services. IFRS
15 also includes disclosure reguiremenis that enzble users of financial statements to understand the
nature, ameunt, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.
IFRS 15 replaces existing revenue guidance in IFRS.

In April 20146, the LASBE issued Clarifications o IFRS 15 *Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(Clarifications to [FRS 15 The Clarfications (o [FRS 15 are intended (o address implementation
questions that were disenssed by the Joint Transition Resource Groug for Revenue Recognition on
licenses of intellectual property, identifying performance obligations, principal versus apent application
guidance and transition. IFRS 15 and Clarifications to IFRS 15 are effective for anmual reporting
periods beginning on of after | January 2018,

I'he Company adopted the guidance in IFRS 15 and Clarifications to IFRS 150on | January 2018 using
the cumutative effect transition appreach with a transition adjustment recognised in retained earnings
without restating comparatives. As a result of adoption, Company did not have any material changes
due to timing of the recognition of certain fees. In assessing whether an entity’s promises (o ransfer
owods o services to the customer are separately identitiable, the objective is 1o determine whether the
nature of the promise, within the context of the contract, is o ransfer ench of those goods or services
individually or, instead, to transfer # combined flem or flems o which the promised goods or senviess
are inputs, As a result of the Company assessment of perfonmance obligstions within advisory contracts,
the Company identified changes in the timing of the recognition of cerain fees in the inviesiment
banking capital markess business.

Changes in Aceounting Policics

The [ASE hes issued a number ol amendments to IFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Company. Nene of these developments have had a mateeial effect on how the Company’s
resulls and finencial position for the current or prioe periods have been prepared oF presented in Note

k).

The Company bas not applied any new standard or inerpretation thit is oo vel effective for the current
accounting period (hote 17).
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Met Interest income

201% 1017
Net Interest Income (USD)
Interest income on cash and due from banks 22,534 11,246
Interest incomse 22,534 11,246

All the above interest income on instrumenis sre 3t amostized cost,
Service Fee Income

The principal activities of the Company are the creation of (rusis amd the administration and
management of assets in irusis,

Revenue represents investmenl manspement fee income eamed from fallow subsidiary as follows:

2018 2017
Revenues (LIS
Service Fee lncome 205,000 190,000
_Tofal revenues 205,000 14401, 0K
General, Administrative and Trading Expenses
2018 2017
General, sdministrative and trading expenses (USD)

Other commission expenscs (1,315 (1311
Bank charges {543) —_
Jrading expenses " (1RG0 (1,311}
Auditor remuneraiion (3,117 {3,142)
Lirectors’ remuneration (106, 500) (105,033)
Professional Services {9, 3N0) {2,415)
Ceneral and administrative expenses (119,207) (110,620)
Total general, administrative and trading expenses {12 1.067) (111,931}

All of the above expenditures are pavable 1o the Company s immediate holding company and the
immediate holding company settles such cxpenditures on bahall of the Company.

Taxation

There are no taxes on income or gains in the Cayman Islands and the Company has received zn
undertaking from the Governor in Council of the Caymen Islands exempting it from all local income,
profits and capital taxes until 13 January 2020, Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is included
in these financial statements.
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Uneonsolidated Structured Entities
Spansored wncorsolicated strictoed entities

The Company considers isell the sponsor of a structured entity whin either its name appears in the
name of the structured entity or in prodiects isseed by it or there is a general expectation from the marker
that the Company is associated with the structured entity or the Company was involved in the desipgn or
set up of the structured entity and has a form of involvement with the structured entity. For
unconsolidated structured entities that were sponsared by the Company but no interest was held, the
Company did not receive investment managerment fees from these antities during the reporting pericd
and oo asses were transferred to these entities.

The below uncorsolidated structured entities are sponsored by the Company where no management fee
is received and no interest is held by the Company as at 31 December 201 8:

. HOLT® Japan Incame Plus Strategy Fund (For Qualified [nstitutiona! [nvestors Only)
The below unconsolidated siruciured entities are sponsered by the Compeny where a fixed annual

management fee of LSD 5,000 (201 7: USD 5,000] is received bul no interest is held by the Company
a8 at 31 December 200 8:

Global REIT Incame Alpha Fund ":D:I'_Q!.Iil._uﬁ:l.‘é-_i:l'._lﬁt_i!.].'l!iﬂl:'lﬂj_]H‘:‘i_:‘_ilor_ﬁ_ui!.'!}'_]
Australian High Dividend Equity Twin Alpha Fund {For Quealified Insiitulional Investors Only)
LS REIT Premium Fund (For Qualified Institutional lnvestors Qnly)

LS High Dividend Equity Premium Fund {For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
LS Small Cap Equity Premium Fund {For Qualified Instintional Investors Only)
Diivea Emerging Tocal Marke! Bond Fund (For Quelified Institutional Investars Only)
J-REIT Fund (For Crealified Institutional Investors Cnly)

US Preferred REIT Income Fund (For Qualified Insiitutional Investors Only)
Japan Fguity Premivm Fund (For Qualified Inssitutional Investors Only)

Euro Stock Premium Fund {For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

HNEMYAM LIS REIT Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investars Only)
Daiwa UK High Dividend Equity Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
AMP Australia Income Bond Fund (Tor Qualified Institutional Investors Qnly)
Brawil Equity Alpha Fund (For Qualified Instinational Investors Onlv)

Daiwa Brazilian Real Bond Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

LS Value Equity Concentrated Fund (For Qualified Institulional Tnvestors Only)

AMP Australia REIT Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
J-REIT and Real Fstate Foeity Fund (For Qualified Tnstitutional Investors Only)
Shinsei European Bond Fund (For Qualified Instingtional Investors Only)

13

166/210



EDINETOOOO
O00000000000000o0000000000dn(ELs389)
Oooooooooooobooooooad

Creali Swirsr Akmagrmenr G Lintined
Flaancus’ marmeits for e year inded 3 Dacember 2048

Unconsolidated Structured Entitics {eontinued)

Daiwa American High Dividend Equity Quatiro Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors
Onlvy e :

Daiwa American REIT Quartro Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Invesiors Only)

US REIT Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only) :

Shinsei World Wrap Fund Stable Tvpe (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

US REIT Triple Engine Plus Fund (For Qualified instiutional Investors Only) —
Japanese Government Band 1720 Year Ladder Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

LS Treasury 5-7 Year Ladder Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
LS Muricipal Bond Fund
Tokiv Marine CAT Bond Fund
Downside Contrel Equity Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

Global High Lividend Equity Premium Fund (For Qualificd Tnstitutiona! Investors Only)

The Company has pod provided finsmeial or other support to consolidated siructured entities that it was
not contractually required to provide,

The Company does net currently have the intention to provide financizl or other support to
unconsolidated structured entities that it is not contractually required to provide.

Cash and Due from Banks

Corshy ot cash equeivalents camprise:

g 2017
Cash anil due Trom banks (USD)
Cash and due from hanks 1.213.367 1,016,181
Total cash and due from Danhks 1213367 1,016,151
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1. Orther Assets and Other Liabilitics

8 2017
St ssets. L0
Interest and fees receivabla 206,873 192,723
Others - 106, S0
Tistzal other assels 206873 299233
2018 2017
Other liabilities (US13)
Interest and fees pavable o ~ 3,733 5374
Motal other labilicies 3,735 5474
11, Share Capital
fay Authorised and fosued shre caplitel
2018 2017
N of shares USD No. of shares UsD
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of USD 1 each 100000 1, (W, CRHD 1, ({1000 1000000
Mssued and fully paid up:
Ordinnry shares T35.000 T35.000 T35.000 735,000

The holders of ordinary sheres are entitled 10 receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at peneral meetings of the Company.  All ordinary shares rank equally
with regard to the Company s residual assets.

ik Caplial managenent

Ihe Company's primary objectives when managing capital are 10 safeguard the Company”s ability to
continue as a going concern o thal it can continue 1o provide returns for shareholders, by pricing
services commensurately with the level of risk and by s2curing access 1o finance at a reasonable cost,
As the Company is part of a larger group, the Company’s sources of additional capital and policies for
distribution of excess capital may also be affected by the group’s capital management objectives. The
Company defines “capital™ as including all components of equity,

The Company’s capiial structure §s regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the capital
muanagement prictices of the group to which the Company belongs. Adjustments are made to the capital
stroeture in light of changes in coonomic conditions affecting the Company or the group, to the extent
that these do not conflict with the directors” Rduciary dulics towards the Company.

The Company was not subject 1 externally imposed capital reguirements in the current period.
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12.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest mte and foreign currency risks arises in the rormal course of the
Company®s business. These rigks are mmmged by the Company®s financial management policies and
practices deseribed below,

fir) Credir risk

The Company’s credit risk is primarily anributable 10 amounts due from group companics and cash at
bark. Creditrisk is defired as risk that ene party 1o a financial instrument will cause a financial loss 1o
ancther party by failing to discharge an chligation. Menagement regularly monilors s risk exposure
to ensure that its credit risk is kept to 8 minimal level. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the careying amount of cach Mnancinl asset in the statement of financial position after
deducting any impairment allowance.

(bt Lieeiddity risk

The Company's policy is to regularly moniter its liquidity requirements to satisfy its contractual and
reasenably foreszeable obligations as they fall due,

At 31 Decernber 2018 and 2017, all of the Company’s financial liabilities, which includes all credilors
and accruals, are on demand or undated and are expected 1o be settled within three months,

fel Tnterest rafe risk

The Company i+ exposed to interest rie risk only to the extent that it earns bank interest on cash and
deposits. Al 31 December 2018 and 2017, & change in interest rates would have no direct material
effeet on the earrying value of the recognised assels or liabilities of the Company.

() Foreign currency risk

The Company is éxposed to foreign currency risk primarily through certain ransactions which give rise
to pavables that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD™),

As the HKD is pegged to the United States dellar (*USD™), the Company considers that the risk of
mavements in exchinnge rates between the USD and the HKD to he insignificant,

fe} Fuir values

The carrying amounts of the Company's financial instrements carmied al cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair valee as at 31 December 2008,
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13. Material Helated Party Transactions

In addition 1o the transactions and balances disclesed elsewhers in the financial statements, the
Company entered into the following material related party transactions

a) Related party balance sheet transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclesed elsewhere in the financial statements, the
Company entered into the following material related party transactions in the normal course of business

A1 Decemlbeer 2018 A1 Degernlsce 2017
Farent Fellow Total Parent Fello Todal
{aroup Garaup
Campanies Companies
At (15
(nher nssets = HhS, DU A 1XI0 = 191,632 191652
tal assgis 205,000 FLRALI] = 1+ 632 121652
I iakifigies and I-'q_ul'}'
LIS
Onther, liwhilitics e - - 1LETI 1,632 3503
Share capinl 735,000 - 733,000 7350 — 138000
Todal lkabdlitkes and
sharchulders’ equity TSI — T35, T3LET 1,632 TR

by Related party revenues and expenses

3 December 2018 A ecembser 2017
Fellow FPellow
Giraup laroarp
Marent 'ompanies Trstal Marent t.‘knpnnlu Todml
Diber revenaes
LLSDE
Uiher revenues = ZiES000 AT 1] — i L] [RIRLLT]

¢ Remuneration of Kev Management Personnel

Remunerstien of Key Managrment Perusanel (1S0) K 207
Skom-serm amployee beretin 103, 5100 105,053
Toiwl Remuneration of Key Mansgement Personne] TG, 200 15,055
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Parent and Ultimate Holding Company

At 31 December 2018, the immediate parent of the Company s Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited,
which is incerporated in Hong Kong and the ultimate controlling party of the Company is Credit Suisse
Group AG, which is incorporated in Switzerland,  Credit Suisse Group AG produces financial
statements available for public use.

Reclassification of Comparative Figures
The Company financials have nat been re-stated

I 2008, the Company being o financial institution, has changed its presentation from current snd non-
curren gsseia’ ubilities w the order of liquidity as it provides mere relevant infarmation. In addition,
the Compuny has also amended the presentation of its statement of income as it provides further
information of revenues and expeases. On account of this change in presentation, the comparative
amoumnis have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. The presentation is now
in line with that of similar entities within the CS Group as il enhances the comparability of the financial
statemenis, Refer to 2017 financial stetements for amounls of each item or class of items prezented
under the erstwhile presentation,

Non-Adjusting Events after the Reporting Period
There are no materisf non-adjustiing events for 2018,

Possible Impact of Amendments, New Standurds and Interpretations issued but not vet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2018

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASE has issued o number of amendments and
new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
which have not been adopted in these financinl statements.

18
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D) (Elian Trustee (Cayman) Limited)

2020 100

Intertrust N.V.

@) (Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.)

2020
5,000 9,270,100

1940 206(4)-2(c)(3)

®)

2020 781
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) (Credit Suisse International)
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1990
1985 2500199
1990
2000 27
2006 16
E14 4QJ +44
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CSI 1990 16
Credit Suisse AG
50
(6) DS

2020 20
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KPMG

P.0. Box 493

SIX Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-1106
Cayman Islands

Telephone +1 345 949 4800
Fax +1 345 949 7164
Internet www.kpmg.ky

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Australia REIT Fund (the "Series Trust), a series
trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) 111, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at September 30, 2019, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in net assets
attributable to the holder of redeemable units and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes,
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Series Trust as at September 30, 2019, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“'IFRS™).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs™). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Auditors® Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements™ section of our report. We are independent of the
Series Trust in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants ("IESBA Code™) together with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Series Trust®s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liguidate the Series Trust or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Series Trust®s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditors®™ Report to the Trustee (continued)
Auditors® Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors” report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with I1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust"s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management®"s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust®s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors® report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors® report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

January 29, 2020
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Independent auditor's report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (the ““Company””) set
out on pages 4 to 18, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the statement of
profit and loss and other comprehensive income and the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flow
for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2018 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standard (““IFRS”?).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (““ISAs~?”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (““IESBA Code””) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor's report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent auditor's report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Responsibilities of the directors' for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the Audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control.
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Independent auditor's report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince's Building

10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
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